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On May 6, 2013, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALI”) (Judge Rogers)

issued his final initial determination (“ID”) in this investigation, finding a violation of

Section 337.

Having considered the ID, the submissions of the parties and the public, and the

relevant portions of the record, the Commission has determined to affirm-in-part, modify

in-part,iand reverse-in-part the final ID. The Commission has determined that the

Respondents have violated Section 337 in the importation, sale for importation, or sale

after importation of digital models, digital data, and treatment plans for use in making

incremental dental appliances. Commissioner Johanson dissents.1 The Commission has

determined to adopt the ALJ’s findings that are consistent with the Commission’s opinion

as set forth below.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Procedural History

This investigation was instituted on April 5, 2012, based upon a complaint filed

on behalf of Align Technology, Inc. (“Align”) of San Jose, Califomia on March 1, 2012,

and a corrected complaint filed on March 22, 2012. 77 Fed. Reg. 20648-49 (April 5,

2012). The complaint, as corrected, alleged violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of

1930, as amended, (19 U.S.C. § 1337) in the importation into the United States, the sale

for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain digital

models, digital data, and treatment plans for use in making incremental dental appliances

by reason of infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,217,325 (“the ‘325 patent”), U.S. Patent

' Commissioner Johanson has filed a dissenting opinion, post.
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No. 6,722,880 (“the ‘880 patent”), U.S. Patent No. 8,070,487 (“the ‘487 patent”), U.S.

Patent N0. 6,471,511 (“the ‘511 patent”), U.S. Patent No. 6,626,666 (“the ‘666 patent”),

U.S. Patent N0. 6,705,863 (“the ‘863 patent”) and U.S. Patent No. 7,134,874 (“the ‘874

patent”). The notice of investigation named as respondents ClearCorrect Operating, LLC

(“ClearCorrect USA” or “CCUS”) and ClearCorrect Pakistan (Private), Ltd

(“ClearCorrect Pakistan” or “CCPK”). A Commission investigative attorney (“IA”)

participated in this investigation.

On January 14, 2013, the ALJ issued Order No. 20, denying CCUS’s and CCPK’s

motion for summary determination that certain asserted claims were not infringed and

that claim 1 of the ‘880 patent was invalid, and finding that CCUS and CCPK waived any

estoppel defense, including defenses based on implied license or patent exhaustion.

On May 6, 2013, the ALJ issued the final ID, finding a violation of Section 337

with respect to the ‘325 patent, the ‘880 patent, the ‘487 patent, the ‘511 patent, ‘863

patent, and the ‘874 patent. The ALJ found no violation as to the ‘666 patent. The ALJ

recommended the issuance of cease and desist orders directed to CCUS and CCPK to

prohibit the importation of digital data sets.

On May 20, 2013, each of the parties filed a petition for review. On May 28,

2013, each of the parties filed a response thereto.

On June 5, 2013, Align filed a statement on the public interest. On June 13, 2013,

the Respondents filed a statement on the public interest.

On June 7, 2013, the Commission issued notice of its determination to extend the

deadline for determining whether to review the final ID to July 25, 2013, and to extend

the target date to September 24, 2013.
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On July 25, 2013, the Commission issued notice of its detennination to review the

final ID in its entirety and to solicit briefing on the issues on review and on remedy, the

public interest, and bonding. 78 Fed. Reg. 46611-12 (August 1, 2013). On August 8,

2013, each of the parties filed Writtensubmissions. On August 15, 2013, each filed reply

submissions.

On September 24, 2013, the Commission issued notice of its detennination to

extend the target date to November 1, 2013. Due to the federal government shutdown

and the Commission Notice tolling all deadlines by the length of the shutdown, the target

date became November 18, 2013. On November 18, 2013, the Commission issued notice

of its determination to extend the target date to January 17, 2014.

On December 31, 2013, the Respondents filed a notice of supplemental authority.

On January 10, 2014, Align filed a reply thereto.

On January 17, 2014, the Commission issued a notice extending the target date to

March 21, 2014, and soliciting further briefing from the public and the parties. 79 Fed.

Reg. 4174-74 (January 24, 2014).

On February 3, 2014, the Commission received written submissions from each of

the parties and from Motion Picture Association of America (“MPAA”), Google Inc.

(“Google”), and Andrew Katz (Mr. KHl;Z).2On February 10, 2014, the Commission

received reply submissions from each of the parties and from MPAA, the Association of

American Publishers (“the AAP”), and Nokia Corporation (“Nokia”).

On March 21, 2004, the Commission issued notice of its determination to extend

the target date to April 3, 2014.

2Mr. Katz is an attorney of the law firm Belles Katz LLC in Horsham, Pennsylvania.
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B. Related Cases

On February 15, 2006, the Commission instituted an original investigation

captioned Certain Incremental Dental Positioning AdjustmentAppliances and Methods

of Producing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-562 (“the 562 investigation”), based on a complaint

also tiled by Align. 71 Fed. Reg. 7995-96 (February 15, 2006). Briefly, the complaint

alleged that the OrthoClear Respondents3 violated Section 337 when they imported and

sold aligners in the United States which had been manufactured in Pakistan. The

orthodontic aligners at issue were accused of infringing the ‘880 and ‘511 patents

asserted in this investigation, among numerous others. Id.

On October 27, 2006, the presiding ALI issued an Initial Determination granting

Align’s and OrthoClear’s joint motion to terminate the investigation based on a consent

order. The Commission determined not to review the ID. Notice (November 13, 2006).

The consent order provides in relevant part:

1. The incremental dental positioning adjustment appliances manufactured
by or for OrthoClear referenced in the complaint and any other articles
manufactured in violation of the patents or trade secrets described therein
(the “Articles”) are hereby prohibited from importation into the United
States until the expiration of the last to expire of the following patents: (i)
U.S. Patent N0. 6,685,469 (“the ‘469 patent”); (ii) U.S. Patent No.
6,394,801 (“the ‘801 patent”); (iii) U.S. Patent No. 6,398,548 (“the ‘548
patent”); (iv) U.S. Patent No. 6,722,880 (“the ‘880 patent”); (v) U.S.
Patent No. 6,629,840 (“the ‘840 patent”); (vi) U.S. Patent No. 6,699,037
(“the ‘037 patent”); (vii) U.S. Patent No. 6,318,994 (“the ‘994 patent”);
(viii) U.S. Patent No. 6,729,876 (“the ‘876 patent”); (ix) U.S. Patent No.
6,602,070 (“the ‘O70 patent”); (x) U.S. Patent No. 6,471,511 (‘the ‘511
patent”); and (xi) U.S. Patent No. 6,227,850 (“the ‘850 patent”)
(collectively “the Patents-In-Suit”), except under license of the patent
owner or as provided by law.

3The Commission’s notice of investigation named OrthoClear, Inc. of San Francisco, Califomia;
OrthoClear Holdings, Inc. of Tortola, British Virgin Islands; and Orth0Clear Pakistan Pvt, Ltd. of Lahore,
Pakistan (collectively, “OrthoClear”) as respondents.
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2. Upon entry of this Consent Order, OrthoClcar shall not sell for
importation, import into the United States, or sell in the United States after
importation the Articles, or knowingly aid, abet, encourage, participate in,
or induce the sale for importation into the United States or sale in the
United States after importation of the Articles.

3. This Consent Order shall be applicable and binding upon OrthoClear,
its officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, successors and assigns,
and all persons, firms, or corporations acting or claiming to act on its
behalf or under its direction or authority.

On March 1, 2012, Align filed a complaint for an enforcement proceeding under

Commission Rule 210.75, 19 C.F.R. § 210.75, which was instituted on April 25, 2012

(“the 562 Enforcement Proceeding”). Align based its complaint on alleged violations of

the consent order by ClearCorrect USA of Houston, Texas (“CCUS”); ClearCorrect

Pakistan (Private), Ltd. (“CCPK”) of Lahore, Pakistan; and Mudassar Rathore, Waqas

Wahab, Nadeem Arif, and Asim Waheed (collectively, “Enforcement Respondents”). 77

Fed. Reg. 25747 (May 1, 2012).

In the complaint for enforcement, Align alleged that the Enforcement

Respondents violated the consent order when they sold for importation, imported, or sold

after importation digital data sets, including digital models of a patient’s teeth, digital

data and/or treatment paths transmitted (electronically) to the United States, and

subsequently manufactured aligners in the United States using those imported digital data

sets. According to Align, the Enforcement Respondents’ use of certain processes,

systems, and techniques infringe at least claim 1 of the ‘511 patent and claims 1 and 3 of

the ‘880 patent. Enforcement Complaint fll90, 94-95.

5
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Align further alleged that both CCUS and CCPK are “successor[s], assign[s], or

agent[s]” of the original OrthoClear respondents. Id. 1[24, 31.4The complaint also

alleges that the named individuals are former employees or a director of OrthoC1ear.

Enforcement Complaint W 34, 38, 42, 46. ClearCorrect Pakistan admits that the

individuals are former employees of Orth0C1ear and ftuther admits that Mudassar

Rathore is the CEO of CCPK, Waqas Wahab and Nadeem Arif are directors of

orthodontics for CCPK, and that Asim Waheed is a manager of quality control at CCPK.

Response of CCUS to Enforcement Complaint 1H]34-35, 38-39, 42-43, 46-47.

On November 28, 2012, the ALJ issued Order No. 57, finding that the accused

digital data sets are “articles manufactured” within the meaning of paragraph 1 of the

consent order. On January 4, 2013, the Commission issued notice of its determination to

review and reverse the ID and to terminate the proceeding with a finding of no violation

of the consent order. 78 Fed. Reg. 2282-83 (January 10, 2013). In its opinion, the

Commission held that, since the consent order at issue contained no express provision for

electronic transmissions, the consent order did not cover electronic transmissions under

Commission precedent and thus there was no violation of the consent order. Certain

Incremental Dental Positioning AdjustmentAppliances and Methods of Producing Same,

Comm’n Op. (January 23, 2013). Align has appealed the Commission’s determination

from the 562 Enforcement Proceeding to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal

Circuit. Case Nos. 2013-1240, -1363. That appeal is currently pending.

4ClearCorrect USA and ClearCorrect Pakistan have denied these allegations. Response of CCUS to
Enforcement Complaint 1]24; Response of CCPK to Enforcement Complaint 1]31.
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C. The Patents

Align asserts seven U.S. patents that all claim priority to provisional application

No. 60/050,342 filed on June 20, 1997. As with the specifications of all the patents in

suit, each patent is directed towards a system for repositioning teeth comprising a

plurality of individual appliances (aligners) which are configured to be placed

successively on the patient’s teeth and to incrementally reposition the teeth from an initial

tooth arrangement to a final tooth arrangement.5 See, e.g. , ‘880 Patent Abstract.6 While

the seven asserted patents all share a common inventive concept of using digital data sets

to construct the individual appliances, a description of each asserted patent is set forth

below.

1. The ‘325 Patent

The ‘325 patent,7 entitled “Method and System For Incrementally Moving Teeth,”

issued on April 17, 2001, based on Application No. 09/298,268, filed by Muhammad

Chishti, Apostolos Lerios, Brian Freyburger, Kelsey Wirth, and Richard Ridgley on

April 23, 1999. ID at 2-3. The ‘325 patent is a divisional of non-asserted U.S. Patent No.

5,975,893 filed Oct. 8, 1997. The ‘325 patent was the subject of an ex parte

reexamination based on a request received on July 27, 2005, that added limitations to

original claims 1 and 18-21 and added new claims 27-39. Id. A reexamination certificate

issued on January 15, 2008. Id.

5The asserted patents note that “the appliances can be braces, polymeric shells, or other forms of
orthodontic appliances.” ‘511 patent Abstract.
6The asserted patents have different specifications, but are from the same family.
7 JX-3.
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Align has asserted claims 1-3, 11, 13-14, 21, 30-35, and 38-39. Claims l, 11, 21,

31, 35 and 38 are independent claims. Certain claims of the ‘325 patent are directed to a

method for fabricating a plurality of dental incremental position adjustment appliances

using digital data sets representing an initial tooth arrangement, a final tooth arrangement,

and a series of intermediate digital data sets representing the tooth arrangements

progressing from the initial to the final arrangement. ‘325 patent, col. 16, lines 19-34.

Claim 1 recites:

1. A method for facilitating a tooth repositioning dental treatment,
including producing a plurality of digital sets representing a plurality of
tooth arrangements, said method comprising:

providing an intial digital data set representing an initial tooth
arrangement; I

presenting a visual image based on the initial data set;
manipulating the visual image to reposition individual teeth in the
visual image;

producing a final digital data set representing the final tooth
arrangement with repositioned teeth as observed in the image;

producing a plurality ofintermediate digital data sets representing
a series of successive tooth arrangements progressing from the
initial tooth arrangement to the final tooth arrangement; and

fabricating a plurality of successive tooth repositioning appliances,
at least some of which are related to at least some of the
produced digital data sets.

Id. EXParte Rexam Cert. at col. 1, lines 29-48.

2. The ‘880Patent

The ‘880 patent,8 entitled “Method and System for Incrementally Moving Teeth,”

issued on April 20, 2004, based on Application No. 10/047,077, filed by Muhammad

Chishti and Kelsey Wirth on January 14, 2002. ID at 3. The ‘S80 patent arises from an

8Jx-2.
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application which is a continuation-in-part of a related, non-asserted patent. Align has

asserted claims 1 and 3; claim 1 is an independent claim.

Similar in manner to the ‘325 patent, claim 1 of the ‘880 patent is directed to a

method for fabricating dental adjustment appliances using digital data sets. The asserted

claims of the ‘880 patent expressly define the “dental adjustment appliances” as

comprising “polymeric shells having cavities shaped to receive and resiliently reposition

teeth.” ‘880 patent, col. 22, lines 12-29. Claim 1 recites:

1. A method for making a predetermined series of dental incremental
position adjustment appliances, said method comprising:

a) obtaining a digital data set representing an initial tooth
arrangement;

b) obtaining a repositioned tooth arrangement based on the initial
tooth arrangement;

c) obtaining a series of successive digital data sets representing a
series of successive tooth arrangements; and

d) fabricating a predetermined series of dental incremental position
adjustment appliances based on the series of successive digital
data sets, wherein said appliances comprise polymeric shells
having cavities shaped to receive and resiliently reposition teeth,
and said appliances correspond to the series of successive tooth
arrangements progressing from the initial to the repositioned
tooth arrangement. ‘

Id. Dependent claim 3 teaches that the digital data set is obtained by defining boundaries

of the individual teeth and moving at least some of the tooth boundaries relative to other

teeth in an image. Id. col. 22, lines 33-41. Claim 3 recites:

3. A method as in claim 1, wherein the step of obtaining a digital data set
representing a repositioned tooth arrangement comprises:

defining boundaries about at least some of the individual teeth; and
moving at least some of the tooth boundaries relative to the other
teeth in an image based on the digital data set to produce the
repositioned data set.

Id.

9
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3. The ‘487Patent

The ‘487 patent,9 entitled “System and Method for Positioning Teeth,” issued on

9, of which claims 1 and 7 are independent.

The asserted claims are directed to a method of planning dental treatment by

producing digital data sets. The ‘487 patent teaches the concept of an “orthodontic

treatment plan.” ‘487 patent, col. ll, lines 26-35. Claim l recites:

1a'.,col. 10, line 61 to col. 11, line 6. In addition, claim 7 provides that the “treatment

plan resid[es] on a computer readable media.” 1d., col. 11, lines 28-29. Claim 7 recites

l. A method of planning orthodontic treatment of a patient comprising use
of incremental tooth repositioning appliances, the method comprising:

receiving an initial digital data set representing an initial
arrangement of the patient's teeth;

producing a final digital data set representing the patient's teeth in
a desired or prescribed arrangement;

producing a plurality of intermediate digital data sets representing
intermediate arrangements of the patient's teeth, wherein at least
some of the intennediate tooth arrangements represent different
orthodontic treatment stages as the patient's teeth are moved ~
from the initial arrangement toward the final arrangement.

7. An orthodontic treatment plan for repositioning a patient's teeth using
incremental tooth repositioning appliances, the treatment plan residing on
a computer readable storage media and comprising a plurality of
intermediate digital data sets representing intermediate arrangements of
the patient's teeth, wherein at least some of the intermediate tooth
arrangements represent different orthodontic treatment stages as the
patient's teeth are moved from an initial arrangement toward a final
arrangement representing the patient‘s teeth in a desired or prescribed
arrangement.

9 JX-7.
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Id., col. 11, lines 26-35. Although the ‘487 patent introduces the limitation of

“orthodontic treatment plan,” the underlying structure of the claim remains

directed to development of digital data sets. Id

4. The ‘511 Patent

The ‘511 patent,10entitled “Defining Tooth-Moving Appliances

Computationally,” issued on October 29 2002, based on Application No. 09/169,034,

filed by Muhammad Chishti, Elena I. Pavlovskaia, Gregory P. Bala and Brian Freyburger

on October 8, 1998. ID at 4. The ‘S11 patent arises from an application which is a

continuation-in-part of a non-asserted patent. The sole asserted claim is claim 1.

The ‘511 patent is directed towards methods for segmenting an orthodontic

treatment plan, as referred previously in the ‘487 patent, into clinically appropriate sub

steps for repositioning the teeth of a patient. ‘S11 patent, Abstract. The limitations

presented in claim 1 of the ‘511 patent are distinguished from the claims of other asserted

patents because claim 1 further provides for “calculating a segmentation of the aggregate

tooth paths. ..so that each tooth’s motion stays within threshold limits of linear and

rotational translation.” Id., col. 11, lines 9-12. Claim 1 recites:

1. A computer-implemented method for segmenting an orthodontic
treatment path into segments, comprising:

for each tooth in a set of teeth, receiving a tooth path for the
motion of the tooth from an initial position to a final position;

calculating a segmentation of the aggregate tooth paths into a
plurality of treatment segments so that each tooth's motion within
a segment stays Withinthreshold limits of linear and rotational
translation; and

generating a plurality of appliances, at least one or more appliances
for each treatment segment, wherein the appliances comprise
polymeric shells having cavities and wherein the cavities of

‘°1x-1.
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successive shells have different geometries shaped to receive and
resiliently reposition the teeth from one arrangement to a
successive arrangement.

Id., col. ll, lines 4-l9.

5. The ‘666Patent

The ‘666 patent,“ entitled “Method and System for lncrementally Moving

Teeth,” issued on September 30, 2003, based on Application No. O9/757,044, filed by

Muhammad Chishti, Apostolos Lerior, Brian Freyburger, Kelsey Wirth and Richard

Ridgley on January 8, 200] . ID at 4-5. Align has asserted claims l, 3, 7 and 9; claims 1

and 7 are independent claims.

The claims of the ‘666 patent are directed to a method of producing a “plurality of

digital data sets.” ‘666 patent, col. 15, lines 27-48. Similar to the manner of claims for the

‘88Opatent, the ‘666 patent produces digital data sets by “moving at least some of the

tooth boundaries relative to the other teeth in the visual image to produce a final data

set.” Id. at col. 15, lines 38-40. Claim 1 recites:

l. A method for producing a plurality of digital data sets representing a
series of discrete tooth arrangements progressing from an initial to a final
arrangement, said method comprising:

providing a computer system; »
providing to the computer system an initial digital data set
representing an initial tooth arrangement;

defining boundaries about at least some of the individual teeth on a
visual image provided by the computer system based on the
initial data set;

moving at least some of the tooth boundaries relative to the other
teeth in the visual image to produce a final data set; and

producing using the computer system a plurality of successive
digital data sets based on both of the previously provided initial
and final digital data sets, wherein said plurality of successive
digital data sets represents a series of successive tooth

" JX-4.
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arrangements progressing from the initial tooth arrangement to
the final tooth arrangement.

Id., col. 15, lines 27-47. Additionally, claim 7 of the ‘666 patent introduces the limitation

of “interpolating positional differences between the teeth in the initial and final data sets.”

Id. at col. 16, lines 7-13. Claim 7 recites:

7. A method for producing a plurality of digital data sets representing a
series of discrete tooth arrangements progressing from an initial to a final
arrangement, said method comprising:

providing a computer system;
providing to the computer system digital data set representing an
initial tooth arrangement;

providing to the computer system a digital data set representing a
final tooth arrangement;

interpolating positional differences between the teeth in the initial
and final data sets using the computer system to produce a
plurality of successive digital data sets, wherein said plurality of
successive digital data sets represents a series of successive tooth
arrangements progressing from the initial tooth arrangement to
the final tooth arrangement.

Id., col. 15, line 64 to col. 16, line 13.

6. The ‘863Patent

The ‘863 patent,” entitled “Attachment Devices and Methods for a Dental

Appliance,” issued on March 16, 2004, based on Application No. 10/040,269, filed by

Loc X. Phan, Muhammad Z. Chishti and Ross J. Miller on October 29, 2001. ID at 5.

The ‘863 patent was the subject of an ex parte reexamination based on a request received

on June 23, 2005. Id. The ‘863 patent is a continuation-in-part of a non-asserted U.S.

patent 6,309,215 filed Dee. 3, 1999.

Align has asserted claims l and 4-8; claim l is an independent claim. Claim 1 of

the ‘863 patent was subject to ex parte reexamination and is directed towards a method

12JX-5.
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for producing digital models of dental appliances. ‘863 patent, Ex Parte Reexam Cert.

col. l, lines 57-col. 2, line 4. The asserted claims disclose a method of “producing a

plurality of modified digital models of the dentition, wherein the modified models

represent successive treatment stages of an orthodontic treatment.” Id. Claim l recites:

A method for producing digital models of dental positioning appliances,
said method comprising:

providing a digital model of a patient's dentition;
producing a plurality of modified digital models of the dentition,
wherein the modified models represent successive treatment
stages of an orthodontic treatment and wherein each modified
model or a product of such model is to be used in fabrication of a
distinct successive incremental dental positioning appliance
associated with the respective treatment stage of that modified
model;

providing a digital model of at least one attachment device; and
positioning the digital model of the attachment device on at least
some of the plurality of modified digital models.

Id.

7. The ‘874 Patent

The ‘874 patent,“ entitled “Computer Automated Development of an Orthodontic

Treatment Plan and Appliance,” issued on November l4, 2006, based on Application No.

10/718,779, filed by Muhammad Chishti, Brian Freyburger, Kelsey Wirth, Andrew

Beers, Huafeng Wen, Phillips Alexander Benton, Timothy N. Jones, and Ross J. Miller

on November 20, 2003. ID at 5-6.

Align has asserted claims 1, 2, 38-39, 41, and 62; claim 1 is an independent claim.

Claim 1 of the ‘874 patent is directed to a method for “creating a treatment plan to

reposition a patient’s teeth from a set of initial tooth positions to a set of final tooth

1-‘JX-6.
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positions” in a manner similar to the other asserted patents. ‘874 patent, col. 32, lines 37

56. Claim 1 recites:

1. A computer-implemented method for use in creating a treatment plan to
reposition a patient's teeth from a set of initial tooth positions to a set of
final tooth positions, the method comprising:

receiving an initial digital data set representing the teeth at the
initial positions, wherein receiving the initial digital data set comprises
receiving data obtained by scanning the patient's teeth or a physical model
thereof;

generating a set of intermediate positions toward which the teeth
will move while moving from the initial positions toward the
final positions; and
generating a plurality of successive appliances having cavities
and wherein the cavities of successive appliances have different
geometries shaped to receive and reposition teeth from the initial
positions toward the final positions,

wherein the plurality of successive appliances is generated at a
stage of treatment prior to the patient wearing any appliance of
said plurality so as to reposition the teeth.

Id.. In contrast to the other patents in suit, the asserted claims of the ‘874 patent have a

limitation of generating a plurality of appliances “prior to patient wearing any appliance.”

‘874 patent, col. 32, lines 53-56.

D. The Groups of Asserted Claims

The asserted claims across the seven patents-in-suit share characteristics and

limitations. Complainant Align placed them into four groups for the purpose of

analyzing the threshold issues of violation, e.g., whether there is an imported “article,”

and whether the territorial requirements of violation have been met. Align’s Response to

Respondents’ Petition for Review (“Align Pet”) at 4-5. Some claims are in more than

one group. There was no objection raised to the use of these groupings.“

'4 See Respondents’ Response to the Notice of the Commission's Determination to Review the Final Initial
Determination of the Administrative Law Judge (“Resps. Sub”); Response of the Office of Unfair Import
Investigations to the Commission's Request for Written Submissions on Issues Under Review (“IA Sub.”);
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1. Group I

The Group I claims (Claims 21 and 30 of the ‘325 patent and claim 1 of the ‘880

patent) are directed to a method of forming dental appliances starting with a digital data

set.

2. Group II

The Group II claims (Claims 31 and 32 of the ‘325 patent; claims 1 and 4-8 of the

‘863 patent; claims 1, 3, 7 and 9 of the ‘666 patent; and claims 1, 3 and 5 of the ‘487

patent) are directed to methods of producing digital data sets.

3. Group III

The Group III claims (Claims 7-9 of the ‘487 patent) are directed to a treatment

plan (i.e., a series of digital data sets) on a storage medium.

4. Group IV

The Group IV claims (Claims 1, 2, 3,11,13,14, 21, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 38, 39

of the ‘325 patent; claims 1 and 3 of the ‘S80 patent; claims 1 of the ‘511 patent; and

claims 1, 2, 38, 39, 41, and 62 of the ‘874 patent) are directed to methods of producing

dental appliances.

E. The Accused Products and Processes

1. Accused Products

Align accuses digital data sets made by CCUS and CCPK and the customized

sequential dental positioning appliances made therefrom for the purpose of orthodontic

treatment.

Respondents‘ Reply To The OUII & Align's Response To Notice Of The Commission's Determination To
Review The Final Initial Determination Of The ALJ and Exhibits (“Resps. Reply Sub.”); Response of the
Office of Unfair Import Investigations to Written Submissions on the Issues Under Review and on
Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding (“IA Reply Sub.”).
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The ALJ found the accused products to be digital models, digital data, and

treatment plans, expressed as digital data sets, Whichare virtual three-dimensional

models of the desired position of patients’ teeth at various stages of orthodontic

treatment. The models are initially created based on impressions of patients’ teeth. The

models are manipulated in Pakistan by CCPK, as set forth below, and transmitted to

CCUS. ID at 21-22. The digital models, digital data, and treatment plans are

electronically transmitted by uploading them (a CCPK technician in Pakistan

electronically transmits the digital data to CCUS’s server for CCUS use in the United

States). ID at 21-22; Tr. at 316-17; CX-1150C at Qs. 92-145; Tr. at 168:14-170:11,

170:18-173124, and 177:2-193:6; Tr. at 312:20-322112; Tr. at 442:5-443:1O. The digital

models are subsequently used to print 3-D physical models of a patient’s teeth. Id. The

aligners, i.e., the incremental dental positioning adjustment appliances, are fonned over

the physical models of the teeth. Id.

Below is an image of a computer model of the teeth.

-an
-11
_.~..¢
u-v
n--v--r

CX-90C at 54.
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Below is a picture of a physical model of teeth.

CX-875C. CC V I ‘ V _ _ .1model of theI

teeth. Tr. at 318:4-7.

2. Accused Processes

As set forth below, the ALJ found the process implemented by CCPK and CCUS

to produce the digital data sets and subsequent dental positioning adjustment appliances

to constitute the “accused process.” CCUS performs certain steps in the United States

and CCPK perfonns certain steps in Pakistan. See ID at 472-73.

a. Scanning stone models into a digital model: Employees of CCUS and CCPK

testified that CCUS creates digital data sets by scanning stone models of a patient’s

dental impressions, which represent the patient’s initial tooth arrangement. ID at 472

(citing Tr. at 171:8-11; 3l4:l9-315:18).
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b. and c. Transmission of initial digital data sets (from Texas to Pakistan)

and software conversion: CCUS uploads the 3D digital scan to a server for CCPK to

access. ID at 698. CCPK imports the scan data into FreeFom1, which is a 3D modeling

software program, to prepare the initial digital data set. Id.

d. Sectioning: Mr. Pumphrey, an employee of CCUS, testified that CCPK

sections the initial digital data sets representing the initial position of teeth for the upper

and lower jaws into 16 separate teeth. Tr. at 330111-331:5. The ALJ found that this

sectioning, depicted in CX-889C, shows that the sectioning defines boundaries about the

individual teeth. ID at 484 (citing Tr. at 330:l3-331:5; CX-889C).

e. [[

1]

r. [[

]]

g. Transmission of treatment setup to professional for approval: Mr. Arif

testified that a copy of the “treatment setup” is transmitted to CCUS, which then sends

the “treatment setup” to the dentist for approval. ID at 689; Tr. at 172210-172:14; 335:1
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13; 335:l9-336:2. Transmission occurs when CCPK uploads the setup to the CCUS

server. Tr. at 316:4-8.

h. Stepping process (interpolation and festooning): If the dentist in the United

States approves the planned model of the final position, CCPK proceeds to the “stepping

process,” which consists of creating steps, or intermediate tooth positions, that move the

teeth from their initial position to the final position. Tr. at 172:15-l73:13. The ALJ

found that the CCPK technicians use the “Generate Steps” function of the FreeForm

software to generate a set of stepped locations for a tooth between two tooth positions.

ID at 495 (citing Tr. at 336311-337:9; see also CX-1150C at Q. 198). The ALJ found that

the text in the FreeForrn software regarding the “Generate Steps” function states that

“[s]teps will be generated automatically by interpolating between the positions of the

corresponding pieces in the starting and ending folders.” Id. (citing CX-107C at 5:33).

The operator also cleans up the models of the teeth through a process known as

“festooning” after the computer has performed the interpolation. Tr. at 339:23-341 :5.

i. and j. Uploading of digital data sets [[

]]: CCPK electronically transmits the digital data sets to

CCUS by uploading them onto the CCUS server. Tr. at 3l6:l2-22; 34l:l4-17. [[

1]
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II. STANDARDFOR DETERNIINATION ON REVIEW

Once the Commission has determined to review the decision ofthe ALI, the

agency has all of the powers which it would have in making the initial decision except as

it may limit the issues on notice or by rule. 5 U.S.C. § 557(b); Certain Acid-Washed

Garments and Accessories, Inv. No. 337-TA-324, Comm’n Op. at 4-5 (Aug. 6, 1992).

Commission Rule 2lO.45(c) implements 5 U.S.C. § 557(b). In other Words, once the

Commission decides to review the decision of the ALJ, the Commission may conduct a

review of the findings of fact and conclusions of law presented by the record under a de

nova standard.

III. DISCUSSION

A. “Importation . . . of Articles”

There is a threshold issue that relates to all of the patent claims asserted, i.e.,

whether Respondents’ electronic transmissions of digital data sets constitute “importation

of . . . articles” within the meaning of Section 337.

In their petition for review, Respondents argue that the digital data sets

representing the initial, intermediate, and final positions of patients’ teeth are not

“articles” within the meaning of Section 337(a)(1)(B), and therefore cannot be the basis

of any unfair act under the statute. Resp. Pet. at 66-67. Moreover, Respondents contend

that because the accused data sets are brought into the United States by CCPK by

uploading them to CCUS’s server in Houston, Texas, this mode of bringing the accused

products into the United States is not an importation into the United States as anticipated

by Section 337(a)(1)(B). Id. at 67. Align and the IA oppose Respondents’ position,
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arguing that the ALJ correctly found that the language of the statute and its legislative

history indicate that the term “articles” includes within its meaning the accused products.

The Commission affirms the ALJ’s finding that the accused products are

“articles” within the meaning of Section 337(a)(l)(B) and that the mode of bringing the

accused products into the United States constitutes importation of the accused products

into the United States pursuant to Section 337(a)(l)(B).

1. The ID

The ALJ found that the accused digital data sets are “articles” within the scope of

the C0mmission’s “jurisdiction,” although he acknowledged that the issue is not

necessarily jurisdictional and that he was only treating the issue as one of jurisdiction

because the parties had raised the issue in that manner. ID at 17 and n.1 (discussing

Certain Drill Bits and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-844, Comm’n Notice

(August 22, 2012) (not adopting statement in ID that issue was jurisdictional)). The ALJ

found that Hardware Logic is directly on point. Ia’.at 18 (discussing Certain Hardware

Logic, Inv. No. 337-TA-383). The ALJ noted that in Hardware Logic, the Commission

rejected the argument that software is not an “article” and that remedial orders could not

reach energy, which is intangible. Id. (citing Hardware Logic, Comm’n Op. at 18, fn. 84

(Dec. 1994)). The ALJ observed that the Commission issued a cease and desist order in

Hardware Logic that prohibited, inter alia, “the importation (including via electronic

transmission), sale, offer for sale, lease, loan, other transfer, duplication, or distribution

(including electronic distribution) of imported sofiware and other components that

contributorily infringe the patents in issue.” Id. (citing Hardware Logic Comm’n Op. at

21).
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The ALJ stated that this understanding of Hardware Logic is confirmed by the

Commission’s Opinion in Investigation No. 337-TA-562 (Enforcement), where the

Commission cited Hardware Logic to hold that “it has jurisdiction and authority to reach

digital data electronically transmitted to a recipient in the United States,” before finding

that the consent order did not expressly prohibit electronic transmissions. Id. at 7.

The ALJ rejected Respondents’ argument that the Federal Circuit opinion in

Bayer AG v. Housey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 340 F.3d 1367 (Fed. Cir. 2003), stated that

Section 337 does not cover information because the court in Bayer AG was addressing

the issue of whether or not 35 U.S.C. § 27l(g) applied to claims directed to methods of

use rather than methods of manufacture. 15 Id. at 19 (discussing Bayer, 340 F.3d at 1371)

The ALJ concluded that any discussion in Bayer regarding the scope of 19 U.S.C. § 1337

was dicta and is not controlling, and that in any case, the Federal Circuit acknowledged

that the scope of 19 U.S.C. § 1337 may be broader than 27l(g). Id.

The ALJ also rejected Respondents’ argument that the Federal Circuit stated in

Nuijten that an “article” must be tangible because that case addressed the specific

question of whether certain claims directed to a “signal” were invalid as being directed to

non-statutory subject matter under 35 U.S.C. § 101. Id. at 20 (citing In re Nuijten, 500

F.3d 1346, 1348 (Fed. Cir. 2007)).

‘SThe Federal Circuit in Bayer stated:
We recognize that section 1337 covers both articles that were “made” and
articles that were “produced, processed, or mined.” While this language in
section 1337 perhaps suggests a broader scope for section 1337 than for section
27l(g), nothing in section I337 suggests coverage of information, in addition to
articles, under section 27l(g).

Bayer AG, 340 F.3d at 1374 n.9.
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2. Arguments“

Respondents argue that neither the plain language of Section 337 nor its

legislative history provide a basis for interpreting intangible, electronic transmissions as

“articles.” Resps. Submission at 2. Respondents assert that the Federal Circuit has

already concluded that the legislative history and language of Section 337 limit “articles”

to tangible items. Respondents assert that the Court concluded that “product” in § 27l(g)

is the same as “articles” described in Section 337. Id. at 2-3 (quoting Bayer, 340 F.3d at

1373).

Respondents argue that it is clear from the debate that led to the enactment of the

Tariff Act of 1930 that members of both houses equated “articles” with tangible items,

often using the term “articles” synonymously with “goods,” “merchandise,” and

“commodities.” Id. Respondents state that Section 337 has been amended a dozen times,

but none of these amendments suggest any Congressional intent to change its long

standing interpretation of “articles” from something tangible. Id at 6—7. Respondents

argue that, in other legislation, Congress explicitly exempted telecommunications from

tariff duties and concludes that this is express evidence of Congress’s intent not to

regulate the entry of digital information through telecommunications transmission. Id.

Respondents argue that the Commission’s order in Hardware Logic does not hold

that electronic transmission is an “importation” or that digital data is an “article.” Id. at

10. Respondents assert that the “software” component described in the Recommended

Determination (“RD”) was stored on a cartridge tape and was imported only one time, on

'6 The Commission fully considered the submissions of the parties and of the public third-party submitters.
The full submissions are available on the Commission website at https://edis.usitc.gov.
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August 2, 1996. Id. (citing RD at 6, 202). Respondents assert that “nowhere in the RD

or cease and desist order did the Commission hold that the possible electronic

transmission of that software was an importation of an article under the statute. Nor did

it hold that the electronic data itself was an ‘article.”’ Id.

Respondents argue that the Commission’s ability to protect domestic patents and

copyrights would not be “eviscerated” if “articles” doesn’t include electronic

transmissions because patent and copyright holders will have remedies elsewhere, and the

Federal Circuit rejected a similar argument in Bayer when it construed the scope of §

27l(g). Id. at 2

Respondents note Align’s proposed definition of “articles” as “units of

commerce,” and argue that there is no evidence that the electronic transmissions are sold

as “units of commerce.” Resps. Add. Sub. at 6. Respondents state that “[i]t is clear that

CCUS paid CCPK for its services rendered in total and was not paid for “units.” Id.

Respondents contest Align’s reliance on two district court decisions, CNETand

Ormco. Id. at 3. Respondents assert that CNET is simply the denial of defendant’s

motion for summaryjudgment, involved § 27l(g), and is distinguishable on its facts

because in CNET the electronic catalog is bought and sold while in the instant case there

is no record evidence that the computer files are bought and sold. Id. at 3-4.

Respondents assert that 0rmc0’s holding that no product was required to be sold under §

27l(g) is undercut by the Federal Circuit’s holding that such a sold product is required

under § 271(0) in PharmaStem Therapeutics, Inc. v. ViaCell, 491 F.3d 1342, 1357-58

(Fed. Cir. 2007)).
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Align argues that electronic transmission of data constitutes “importation” of

“articles” under Section 337. Align Sub. at 1. Align suggests that the text, legislative

history, and overall purpose of Section 337 support the conclusion that the term “articles

encompasses any identifiable unit of commercial value, including electronically

transmitted data. Id at 1-2. Align asserts that the Commission has interpreted

“importation” of “articles” accordingly in Hardware Logic and in Certain Incremental

Dental Positioning AajustmentAppliances and Methods of Producing Same, Inv. No.

337-TA-562. Id. at 2. Align quotes the Commission Opinion in the latter case that “it

has jurisdiction and authority to reach digital data that are electronically transmitted to a

recipient in the United States,” and states that this is a conclusion equally applicable to

detenninations of violation and subsequent remedy. Id

Align cites dictionary definitions to support its position. Id at 3. Align further

contends that the broad meaning of the term “articles” is set by Section 337 itself, and

that its title (“Unfair practices in import trade”) and its terms reflect a concern regarding

commercial practices. Id. Complainant argues that the accompanying terms “sale for

importation,” “importation,” and “sale after importation,” indicate that Congress meant

all units of commercial value - - items that can be bought, sold, or otherwise transferred.

Align concludes that this is consistent with other courts’ findings that digital data is an

“article of commerce.” Id. at 4. Align argues that Congress intended “article” to

encompass anything that infringes, and that limiting “articles” to physical objects would

arbitrarily exclude a broad range of infringing products and severely limit the ability of

this agency to perform its intended function. Id. at 4-5. Align states that a remedial
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statute should be “construed broadly to effectuate its purposes,” and suggests that Section

337 is such a remedial statute. Id at 7.

Align asserts that “[e]xempting electronically transmitted data from Section

337(a)(1)(B) would eviscerate the Commission’s ability to protect the domestic

recording, enteitaimnent, publishing, and software industries from copyright

infringement by downloadable books, movies, television programs, software, and music.”

1d. at 7. Align also suggests that new three-dimensional printers could allow importers to

switch from the importation of physical products to the electronic transmission of designs

for these products. Id.

Align notes that, in issuing a cease and desist order in Hardware Logic, the

Commission relied on the legislative history of Section 337 and the statutory mandate to

ensure adequate protection of U.S. intellectual property rights, and found that coverage of

electronic transmissions was necessary in order to make the order fully effective. Id. at

10.

Align argues that its view is supported by the conclusions of other courts and

agencies. Id. at 11. Align points to a statement by the Supreme Court that “[i]f there be

actual bringing in [to the United States] it is importation regardless of the mode in which

it is effected.” Id. at 8 (quoting Cunard S.S. C0. v. Mellon, 262 U.S. 100, 122 (1923)

(emphasis in brief)). Align points to a Customs ruling that “the transmission of software

modules and products to the United States from a foreign country via the Intemet is an

importation of merchandise into the customs territory of the United States in that the

software modules and products are brought into the United States from a foreign

country.” Id. at ll-12 (quoting Customs Ruling HQ 114459 (Sept. 17, 1998)). Align
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similarly points to a series of Court of International Trade (“CIT”) decisions interpreting

Section 222 of the Trade Act of 1974, 19 U.S.C. § 2272, in which the CIT refused to read

a tangibility requirement into the statute. Id. at 12 (citing, inter alia, Computer Scis.

Corp v. Sec )1of Labor., 414 F. Supp.2d at 1340-41 (CIT 2006)). Align argues that the

Trade Act of 1974was an outgrowth of the Tariff Act of 1930 and that when Congress

uses the same language in two statutes having the same purposes, it is appropriate to

presume that Congress intended the text to have the same meaning in both statutes. Id at

12-13 (citing Smith v. City 0fJacks0n, 544 U.S. 228, 233 (2005)).

Align distinguishes Bayer, stating that the product in Bayer was “information in

the abstract,” specifically, “the knowledge that a substance possesses a particular

quality,” which is not the result of practicing a patented process. Id. at 3. Align states

that in CNET, the court found that an electronic catalogue, maintained as a data file and

downloaded, is a product under section 271(g). Id.

The IA also argues that “articles” includes electronic transmissions. The IA

highlights a statement from the Commission Opinion on Remedy in Hardware Logic, and

argues that this statement would be accorded deference by the Federal Circuit under

Chevron: “We do not think the legislative history of Section 337 precludes coverage of

electronically transmitted software; in fact, we believe that it supports the conclusion that

such coverage is proper.” IA Reply Sub. at 4 (quoting Hardware Logic, Commission

Opinion on Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding at 28 (April l, 1998); citing

Chevron U.S.A.,Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837, 843 (1984)).

The IA argues that Hardware Logic necessarily supports the conclusion that electronic

transmission of data is importation for purposes of violation, and that this was confirmed
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recently by Dental Appliances, lnv. No. 337-TA-562 (Enforcement). Id; IA Add. Reply

Sub. at 4.

The IA further agrees Withthe MPAA that the Commission’s practice of

exercising jurisdiction over electronically imported articles is mandated by Supreme

Court precedent, specifically Cunard and Canton Railroad, because importation occurs

regardless of the mode an article is brought into the country. IA Add. Reply Sub. at 2-3.

The IA counters Google and Katz’s reliance on Nuizjen, Ba)‘/er,NTP, Microsoft, and

Suprema, arguing that Nuitjen is directed to an issue of patentability under § 101, Bayer

and NTP were directed to the scope of § 271(g), Microsoft was directed to the scope of §

27l(f) , and Suprema was directed to the scope of § 27l(b) not § 271(0). Id. (discussing

Suprema, Inc. v. ITC, 742 F.3d 1350 (Fed. Cir. 2013); In re Nuitjen, 500 F.3d 1346, 1353

(Fed. Cir. 2007); Bayer AG v. Housey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 340 F.3d 1367, 1372 (Fed.

Cir. 2003); NTP, Inc. v. Research In Motion, Ltd, 418 F.3d 1282 (Fed. Cir. 2005);

Microsofi‘ Corp. v.AT&T Corp, 550 U.S. 437 (2007)).

Third-Party Submitter Motion Picture Association of America, Inc. (“MPAA”)

states that physical media are being replaced by electronic, downloadable formats.

MPAA Sub. at 2. The MPAA asserts that infringement is also shifting to downloadable

formats, leading to a loss of $58 billion annually, including 373,000 jobs, $16 billion in

lost employee earnings, and $3 billion in tax revenue. Id.

The MPAA states that the legislative history of Section 337 demonstrates that

Congress intended for the Commission to have very broad jurisdiction over unfair acts in

international trade. Id. at l 1. The MPAA argues that the Commission has a longstanding
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practice, affinned by the Federal Circuit, of taking a flexible approach to its jurisdiction

and authority, reflecting the “realities of the marketplace.” Id. at l 1-12.

The MPAA argues that the Federal Circuit’s decisions in Suprema and Bayer

were related to narrow patent issues and do not bear on whether imported electronic

transmissions can constitute “articles” for purposes of Section 337. Id. at 13.

The MPAA asserts that the remedy provisions of Section 337 do not dictate that

“articles” be limited to physical objects because Section 337 also gives the Commission

authority to issue cease and desist orders, and that cease and desist orders need not be

limited to the situation where they aid enforcement of exclusion orders or are issued in

lieu of exclusion orders. Id. at 3-4.

The MPAA draws a different conclusion than Google about the absence of a

specific discussion of electronic transmissions in the legislative history, stating that “the

technological state of affairs at the time the statute was drafted does not lock in historical

amber the meaning of a general tema such as the word ‘articles.”’ Id. The MPAA

instead cites Diamond v. Chakrabarzy for the proposition that a statute is not to be

confined to the particular applications contemplated by the legislators, and argues that

statutory silence carmot be interpreted as lack of coverage. Id. at 5-6 (citing Diamond v.

Chakrabarly, 447 U.S. 303, 315-16 (1980)).

The MPAA argues that the Com1nission’s established practice regarding its

authority over electronic articles is consistent with U.S. govermnent policy. Id. at 8.

Third-Party Submitter Andrew Katz asserts that Federal Circuit case law strongly

suggests that electronic transmissions are not articles under either Section 337(a)(1)(B)(i)

or (ii) because they are intangible. Katz Sub. at 2.
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Mr. Katz states that the article in § 271(a) is the “patented invention” and that a

patented invention is one within the statutory classes of patentable subject matter in 35

U.S.C. § 101. Id at 3. Mr. Katz reasons that electronic transmissions cannot be

patentable inventions under In re Nuitjen, 500 F.3d 1346, 1353 (Fed. Cir. 2007), and

therefore cannot be directly infringing articles under Section 337(a)(1)(B)(i). Id. at 2, 11.

Mr. Katz further asserts that the case law, including Microsoft, suggests that an article for

purposes of § 271(0) must also be a tangible product. Id. at 4.

Mr. Katz submits that the Commission should be guided by § 271 in deciding the

meaning of “article” for purposes of Section 337 because the Federal Circuit in Suprema

indicated that the infringement provisions of Section 337 must be interpreted to be

consistent with, and limited by, the court’s jurisprudence under 35 U.S.C. § 271. Id.

Mr. Katz argues that the Commission’s opinion in Hardware Logic has been

displaced by the Federal Circuit’s decisions in Suprema and Bayer and the Supreme

Court’s decision in Microsoft. Id. at 12-13.

Third-Party Submitter Google submits that, as a matter of law and policy, the

Commission is not an appropriate forum for software patent litigation if the accused

products are non-tangible electronic transmissions into the United States. CxoogleSub. at

2.

Google submits that the Commission has recognized the limits of its jurisdiction

and remedial powers when it observed that it is a creature of statute and that its authority

must be found in its enabling statute. Id. at 2. Google argues that the Electronic Devices

investigation stands for the proposition that Section 337 does not apply to all instances of

infringement of a U.S. patent, even with a nexus to importation, because infringement
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must apply to the “articles as imported.” Id. at 2-3 (citing Electronic Devices, Comm’n

Op. at 14, 19).

Google points out that the Commission recently reinforced the “finding of actual

‘articles protected’ even with respect to licensing-based domestic industries.” Id at 6

(citing Certain Computers and Computer Peripheral Devices, and Components Thereqfl

and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-841, Comm’n Op. at 32 (Jan. 9, 2014)

(“There is an ‘articles’ requirement for subparagraph (C), in addition to (A) and (B).”)

Google further argues that exclusion orders under Section 337(d)(1) and seizure and

forfeiture orders, under Section 337(i), cannot apply to electronic transmissions. Id at 6.

Google argues that Hardware Logic did not consider the full legislative history

and was incorrectly decided. Id. at 7.

Google further argues that “it would fly in the face of Section 337” to issue cease

and desist orders directed at electronic transmissions when cease and desist orders were

intended to aid the enforcement of exclusion orders. Id. at 14. Google states that

regulation of electronic transmissions by the Commission should be left for Congress to

decide. Id.

Third-Party Submitter Association of American Publishers (“AAP”) submitted a

reply submission, endorsing the comments submitted by the MPAA and taking the

position that “electronic transmissions” are “articles” within the meaning of Section 337.

AAP Reply Sub. at 1. The AAP submits that this topic is of critical concem to the U.S.

publishing industry, which produces and trades millions of eBooks around the world

annually. Id. The AAP states that today, software, books, movies, music, and games are

increasingly transmitted to consumers in machine-readable fonn by electronic means
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such as eBooks, mp3s, etc. Id. The AAP argues that the need for the Commission to

provide a remedy for eBooks is greater than the need to provide a remedy for physical

books. Id

The AAP argues that Congress has consistently intended “the primary purpose of

section 337 . . . to be a trade statute to prevent unfair practice through importation of

goods.” Id. at 2 (quoting Google Sub. at 4). The AAP suggests that Congress has left the

term “articles” undefined in order to ensure that the language of Section 337 remains

broad enough to prevent all types of unfair practice. Id. at 2-3.

The AAP argues that trade includes digital trade, which includes products and

services delivered via the intemet. Id. at 3. In reaching this understanding, the AAP

relies on the Cornrnission’s definition of digital trade in its report “Digital Trade in the

U.S. and Global Economies, Part 1.” Id. at 3.

Third-Party Submitter Nokia argues that Bayer does not establish that electronic

transmissions are not articles under Section 337. Nokia argues that the court’s discussion

of Section 337 was dicta, that it relates to Section 337(a)(l)(B)(ii) rather than Section

337(a)(l)(B)(i), and that electronic transmission of software that can be read and

combined by a device is much more than intangible information. Nokia Sub. at 8.

Nokia argues that electronic transmissions are within the Commission’s remedial

authority, and that the Commission has broad discretion in selecting the form, scope, and

extent of the remedy. Id. at 8-9. Nokia argues that if a violator attempts to circumvent an

exclusion order, then Section 337(t) authorizes the Commission to order the violator to

cease and desist. Id. at 9.

3. Analysis
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In this investigation, Align’s infringement claims concern respondents’ digital

datasets and treatment plans representing the initial, intermediate, and final positions of

patients’ teeth for use in fabricating dental appliances for orthodontic treatment of

individual patients.” The Commission therefore must determine whether the phrase

“importation of articles” as used in Section 337(a)(1)(B) encompasses these digital

data sets that are electronically transmitted into the United States.

The Commission affirms the ALJ’s conclusion that the accused products are

“articles” within the meaning of Section 337(a)(1)(B) and that the mode of bringing the

accused products into the United States constitutes importation of the accused products

into the United States pursuant to Section 337(a)(l)(B).

The parties’ arguments revolve around the specific authority conferred upon the

Commission to investigate and determine whether a violation of Section 337 has occurred

by the importation or sale of infringing articles in the United States pursuant to Section

337(a)(l)(B). The language of Section 337(a)(l)(B)(i) and (ii) at issue here provides:

(a) Unlawful activities; covered industries,"definitions

(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the following are unlawful, and when
found by the Commission to exist shall be dealt with, in addition to any
other provision of law, as provided in this section:

(B) The importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, or the sale within the United States after importation by the
owner, importer, or consignee, of articles that-

(i) infringe a valid and enforceable United States patent or a valid
and enforceable United States copyright registered under Title 17; or

17Align disputes that the accused products are intangible, noting that the digital data sets at issue here are
physical articles whether they are stored on a physical medium, i.e., a physical server or hard drive, or
transmitted in between storage media. Align Sub. at 1 n.2. Further, Align argues that the act of
importation into the United States from Pakistan is not complete until the entire treatment plan is saved on
a U.S.-based server. Align Sub. on Issues Under Review at 7 n.9.
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(ii) are made, produced, processed, or mined under, or by means
of, a process covered by the claims of a valid and enforceable United
States patent.

The phrase “importation . . . of articles” appears in the introductory text of

Section 337(a)(l)(B) and applies to both Section 337(a)(l)(B)(i) and (ii), which define a

violation by reason of articles that infringe a valid and enforceable U.S. patent or that are

“made, produced, processed or mined under, or by means of” a valid and enforceable

process patent. The same language is used in defining a violation of Section 337 by

reference to infringement of a valid and enforceable registered U.S. copyright, a valid and

enforceable registered U.S. trademark, and a vessel design protected by chapter 13 of

Title 17. See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(B), (C), and (E).18 The Commission sought

briefing from the parties and the public in order to address respondents’ arguments

concerning whether the statutory term “importation of articles” may encompass the

respondents’ digital data sets that are electronically transmitted into the United States.”

78 Fed. Reg. 46611 (Aug. 1, 2013); 79 Fed. Reg. 4174 (Jan. 24, 2014).

la Section 337(a)(l)(D), which relates to a registered semiconductor mask work, does not use the term
“article.” 19U.S.C. § l337(a)(l)(D).
'9 Commenters dispute whether the Commission decided this issue in Hardware Logic and whether it held
that electronic transmissions are “articles” within the meaning of Section 337 for purposes of violation in
Hardware Logic and subsequent determinations. In Hardware Logic, the products at issue were hardware
logic emulation systems consisting of reconfigurable logic devices and interconnect resources that were
programmed primarily via software to emulate an integrated circuit design. Certain Hardware Logic
Systems and Components Thereof (“Hardware Logic”), Inv. No. 337-TA-383, Initial Determination, 1997
WL 665006 at *8 (July 31, 1997). The ALJ fotmd that software contributorily infringed certain asserted
claims, including method claims. Id. at *92-*98. See also Co|nm’n Op. at 27. In so ruling, the ALJ found
that the software components were electronically transmitted to the United States in some instances. Id. at
* 95. With regard to importation, the AL] found that the importation requirement was met by undisputed
evidence of respondents’ importation of logic boards and components such as software, and that even if he
were to accept respondents’ argument regarding electronic transmission of software, respondents had also
imported software on a cartridge tape on at least one occasion. lD at 6. In the RD, the ALJ, referring to the
Comrnission’s broad remedial authority to fashion a remedy once it finds a violation, found that “there is a
direct nexus between respondents’ importation, via electronic transmission or otherwise, and infringement
of the patents in issue,” and recommended an exclusion order and cease and desist order prohibiting
infringing imports, including electronic transmissions. RD at 197. Noting that “the Commission has the
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We acknowledge that the construction of the term “articles” is a difficult question

in part because the term “articles” is not expressly defined in the statute. The term

“articles” in connection with unfairly traded imports originated in the 1922 Tariff Act and

was re-enacted in the Tariff Act of 1930 at a time when intemet downloads were not in

existence. We have carefully examined the arguments of the patties and the third-party

submitters on this issue. On balance, the Commission concludes that the statutory

construction of “articles” that hcws most closely to the language of the statute and

implements the avowed Congressional purpose of Section 337 encompasses within its

scope the electronic transmission of the digital data sets at issue in this investigation.

legal authority to cover electronic importations,” the Commission issued a cease and desist order including
electronically transmitted software within its scope. Hardware Logic, Comm'n Op. on Remedy, the Public
Interest, and Bonding, 1998 WL 307240 at *1 (March 1998). The Commission also issued an exclusion
order, but declined to extend the scope to cover electronic transmissions deferring to Customs’ enforcement
position. Id. at *ll, *l5.

In Certain Systemsfor Detecting and Removing Viruses or Worms,Components Thereof and
Products Containing Same, lnv. No. 337-TA-510, respondent Foitinet’s accused products were an encased
combination of hardware and sofiware. Final ID at 57 (May 9, 2005). The parties stipulated that at least
certain hardware components were imported and either included the software or had the software installed
in the United States after electronic transmission of the software to Fo1tinet’sU.S. facility. The
Commission determined not to review the ALJ’s finding of violation. Notice, 70 Fed. Reg. 40731 (July 14,
2005). Consistent with Hardware Logic, the Commission included electronic transmissions in the cease
and desist order but not the exclusion order. Comm’n Op. at 4-5 (August 23, 2005).

In Certain Set TopBoxes and Components Thereofl lnv. No. 337-TA-454, the accused products
were hardware devices with software. The ALJ recommended an exclusion order covering sofiware, RD at
306 (June 21, 2002), but the Commission determined not to review the ALJ’s finding of no violation and
therefore did not reach the issue of remedy. Notice, 67 F ed. Reg. 56856 (Sept. 5, 2002). The RD is a
recommendation and has no legal effect itself. See Key v. Sullivan, 925 F.2d 1056 (7thCir. 1991).

In Certain Machine VisionSoftware, Mach. VisionSystems, lnv. No. 337-TA-680, the ALJ found
importation based on electronic transmission of sofiware. Both the final ID and the Commission found no
violation of Section 337. See ID at 96; Commission Notice, 75 Fed. Reg. 71146 (Nov. 22, 2010)
(modifying the ID and finding no violation of Section 337 based on invalidity under 35 U.S.C. § 101). The
ALJ noted in the ID that it was not disputed that the importation requirement may be satisfied by electronic
transmission based on Hardware Logic, ID at 8 and n.2. The only importation issue in the final ID was
with regard to Resolution Technology and Visics. They argued that they obtained their products from
MVTec in the United States. But MVTec had been found to import in Order No. 60, so Resolution
Teclmology and Visics were found to “sell after importation.” It is unclear from Order No. 60 (and thus
unclear from the ID) whether the ALJ relied on electronic transmission for importation.

Most recently in the related proceeding, Certain Incremental Dental Positioning Aaljustment
Appliances and Methods of Producing Same, lnv. No. 337-TA-562 (Enforcement), Public Comm'n Op.
(Feb. l9, 2013), the Commission held that the scope of its cease and desist orders and consent orders can
cover electronic transmissions when explicitly recited in those orders. That proceeding did not address
whether electronic transmissions of digital data are articles in the context of violation.
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The statute was drafted with broad language that encompasses imports that

infringe the major forms of intellectual property rights ~ patent, trademark, and copyright

—as well as other forms of unfair acts and methods of competition. Moreover, each time

the statute has been amended, the legislative history has stated that the legislative purpose

is to prevent every type ofunfair act in connection with imported articles (assuming,

starting with the Trade Act of 1974, consistency with the public interest) and to

strengthen protection of intellectual property rights. To faithfully carry out the clear

purpose of the statute in accordance with Congress’s intent, the Commission concludes

that “articles” cannot be limited in the manner argued by the respondents.

Our analysis begins with the language of the statute. Perrin v. United States, 444

U.S. 37, 42 (1979). The term “articles” in connection with unfair acts relating to imports

first appeared in Section 316 of the 1922Tariff Act, which was the predecessor to

Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930. The 1922Act provided remedies against unfair

methods of competition and unfair acts in connection with articles imported or sold in the

United States. This provision was re-enacted with some modifications in 1930. With

each subsequent amendment, the term “articles” was retained in the statutory provisions

circurnscribing unfair acts in connection with importation.

“Articles” is not explicitly defined within Section 337. Notably, there are no

statutory words of limitation used in conjunction with “articles” in Section 337 that

would restrict the category, type, or form of imports that are covered by the scope of

“articles” subject to Section 337. The fact that Congress did not place express

restrictions limiting the scope of “articles” to any particular type or form is instructive as

to the meaning of this term. See generally 2A Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction
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§ 47.38 (7thed. 2007) (“In construing a statute, it is always safer not to add or to subtract

from the language of the statute unless imperatively required to make it a rational

statute”); 62 Cases of Jam v. United States, 340 U.S. 593, 596 (1951) (in statutory

construction, the court’s role “is to ascertain —neither to add nor to subtract, neither to

delete nor to distort”). Likewise, the statutory language at issue here does not encompass

some infringing importations while excluding others. See United States v. Simpson, 252

U.S. 465, 466-67 (1920) (refusing to confine the meaning of “transported” to be limited

to transportation for hire or by public carriers and thereby exclude transportation by

automobile).

Consistent with these authorities, the Commission, having examined the identical

statutory language at issue here, has previously refused to impose limitations upon the

tenn “articles” that were not mandated by this statutory language. See Certain Sputtered

Carbon Coated Computer Disks and Products Containing Same, Including Disk Drives,

Inv. No. 337-TA-350, USITC Pub. 2701, Comm’n Op. at 4-10 (Nov. 1993) (rejecting

respondents’ proposed construction of “articles” as restricted to “articles of foreign

manufacture” because the statutory term “articles” contained no such restriction). In so

doing, the Commission stated that “it is not appropriate for the Commission to insert into

the statute jurisdictional limitations not placed there by Congress.” Id. at 5. Thus, the

Commission finds that the statutory language does not circumscribe the category of items

that fall within the scope of articles. It appears to broadly cover infringing imports,

without express limitation as to form or type of said articles.

To fiirther ascertain the Congressionally intended scope of “articles,” it is helpful

to look to contemporaneous dictionaries to understand the plain and ordinary meaning of
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“article” at the time of enactment. See FDIC v. Meyer, 510 U.S. 471, 476 (1994)

(looking to dictionary definition); Hibbs v. Winn, 542 U.S. 88, 117 (2004)

(contemporaneous dictionary is the relevant dictionary).

Contemporaneous definitions of “article” embrace a generic meaning that is

synonymous with a particular item or thing, such as a unit of merchandise.” A 1924

edition of Webster’s, which uses the 1909 edition’s typesetting, defines “article,” in

pertinent part, as “Something considered by itself and as apart from other things of the

same kind or from the whole of which it forms a part; also, a thing of a particular class or

kind; as, an article of merchandise; salt is a necessary article.” Harris, WEBSTER’sNEW

INTERNATIONALDICTIONARYor THEENGLISHLANGUAGEat 131, G. & C. Merriam Co.

(l924).21 Thus, the tenn “article” was understood at the time of the enactment of the

Tariff Act to carry the meaning of an identifiable unit, item, or thing, with examples

indicating that such articles may be traded in commerce or used by consumers.

Another common definition of the term “article” is a piece of writing included

with others in a newspaper, magazine, or other publication. See, e.g., Funk, NEW

STANDARDDICTIONARYor THEENGLISHLANGUAGE,Funk & Wagnalls Co. at 162 (1929)

2°Some definitions of “article,” in addition to stating a broader generic meaning, also set forth a more
granular meaning of a material thing. For example, a 1929 edition of Funk and Wagnalls defines “article,”
in pertinent part, as: “A particular object or substance; a material thing or class of things; as, an article of
food.” Funk, NEW STANDARDDICTIONARYor THEENGLISHLANGUAGE,Funk & Wagnalls Co. at 162
(1929). The Federal Circuit, interpreting 35 U.S.C. § 271(g), noted one definition of “article” in Webster’s
Third New lntemational Dictionary (a more recent edition of Webster’s). “Article” is there defined as
“one of a class of material things . . . pieces of goods; COMMODITY. ” Bayer AG v. Housey
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 340 F.3d 1367, 1372 n.4 (Fed. Cir. 2003). Thus, while an “article” was understood
to include something material, as shown in the text above, the term was also understood to embrace a
broader meaning that describes something that is traded in commerce.
21More recent context relevant definitions of “articles” are in accord. See, e.g., WEBSTER’STHIRDNEW
INTERNATIONALDICTIONARY(2002) (“5: a material thing”; “6a: a thing of a particular class or kind as
distinct from a thing of another class of kind”); RANDOMHOUSEWEBsTER’s UNABRIDGEDDICTIONARY
(2nd Edition 2001) (“2. An individual object, member, or portion of a class; an item or particular; an article
of food; articles of clothing; 4. An item for sale; commodity”).
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(providing an alternate definition of “article” as “A brief composition, as in a serial

publication; an essay; a paper; as, an article in the morning dai1y.”); Harris, WEBSTER’S

NEW INTERNATIONALDICTIONARYor THEENGLISHLANGUAGEat 131, G. & C. Merriam

Co. (1924) (also defining “article” as “A literary composition forming an independent

portion of a magazine, newspaper, or cyclopedia, etc.”). Courts have long recognized

various unfair competition causes of action for misappropriation when such literary

works (articles) are electronically transmitted, including when the gravamen of the cause

of action is the mere data contained within a broader arrangement of literary work.. See,

e.g., International News Service vAssociated Press, 248 US 215, 234 (1918)

(misappropriation of “fresh” news within “news articles”) (citing Board of Trade v.

Christie Grain & Stock, 198US 236 (1905) (wrongful appropriation of price quotes), and

National Tel. News C0. v. Western Union Tel. Co., 119 F. 294 (7thCir. 1902) (injurious

appropriation of news sent by telegraph before printing on ticker tape)).

The meaning of “articles” must also be interpreted in the context in which it

appears in the statute. Dolan v. United States Postal Service, 546 U.S. 481, 486 (2006).

In the statutory provisions defining a violation of Section 337, 19U.S.C. §§

1337(a)(1)(A), (B), (C), and (E), “articles” appears in conjunction with the tenns

“importation” and “sale,” indicating that articles subject to the statute are imported items

that are bought and sold in commerce. Pertinent to the present inquiry, both the Supreme

Court and appellate courts have held that digital files are “articles of commerce.” Reno v.

Condon 528 U.S. 141, 148 (2000) (“Because drivers’ information is, in this context, an

article of commerce, its sale or release into the interstate stream of business is sufficient

to support congressional regulation”); Senne v. Vill.Of Palatine, 695 F.3d 617, 620 (7‘h
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Cir. 2012) (“Notably, Reno does not appear to rely on the sale of any information.

Instead, it identifies the information that the state possesses and ‘release[s]’ into interstate

commerce as ‘an article of commerce.’”) (emphasis in original). Further, with respect to

importation, the Supreme Court explained in Cunard S.S. C0. v. Mellon, 262 U.S. 100,

122 (1923) that importation “consists in bringing an article into a country from the

outside. If there be an actual bringing in it is importation regardless of the mode by

which it is effected.” See also Canton Railroad C0. v. Rogan, 340 U.S. 511, 515 (1951)

(“to import means to bring into the country”). Accordingly, based on the juxtaposition of

the term “articles” in relation to “importation” and “sale” in the violation provisions of

Section 337, 19U.S.C. §§ l337(a)(1)(A), (B), (C), and (E), the Commission finds that the

intended meaning of “articles” encompasses such items as are bought and sold in

commerce and that are imported into the United States, regardless of the mode of

importation. This meaning is consistent with the title of Section 337, “Unfair Practices in

Import Trade,” which further indicates that “articles” are involved in “import trade.” See

Federal Trade Commission v. Mandel Bros. Inc., 359 U.S. 385, 388-89 (1959) (title ofa

statute is “a useful aid in resolving an ambiguity”).

Moreover, in defining a Section 337 violation in connection with statutory

intellectual property rights (as in the present investigation), the term “articles” appears in

the phrase “articles that infringe” a patent, a registered trademark, and a registered

copyright. 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(1)(B) and (C). Similarly, with respect to protected

vessel hull designs, a violation is defined by an “article,” the importation or sale of which

“constitutes infringement of the exclusive rights in a design protected under chapter 13 of

Title 17.” 19U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(E). The Supreme Court has found that digital
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distribution of copyrighted songs and movies can infringe a U.S. copyright. See, e.g.,

MGM Studios, Inc. v. Grokster, Ltd., 545 U.S. 913 (2005). Similarly, the use of

trademarks on websites, or in intemet domain names, can infringe a U.S. trademark under

the Lanham Act or the Anticybersquatting Consumer Protection Act. E.g., Voiceof the

Arab World, Inc. v. MDTVMedical News Now, Inc, 645 F.3d 26, 36 (lst Cir. 2011);

Coca-Cola C0. v. Purdy, 382 F.3d 774, 778 (8th Cir. 2004). Thus, based on the statutory

phrase “articles that infringe” with respect to statutory intellectual property rights in 19

U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(1)(B), (C), and (E), the Commission finds that the meaning of

“articles” is intended to encompass imported items of commerce as to which a finding of

infringement of a patent, trademark, copyright or protected hull design may be sustained

(provided that all other requirements of the statute are met).

Similarly, in defining a violation under Section 337(a)(1)(A) in connection with

other “unfair methods of competition and unfair acts,” the phrase “importation of

articles” appears with the description that the “articles” at issue in the subparagraph are

“other than articles provided for in subparagraphs (B), (C), (D), and (E).” 19 U.S.C. §

1337(a)(1)(A). See TianRui Group Co. Ltd. v. ITC, 661 F.3d 1322, 1331 (Fed. Cir. 2011)

(citing S.Rep. No. 67—595,pt. 1, at 3 (1922) (“The provision relating to unfair methods of

competition is broad enough to prevent every type and form of unfair practice and is,

therefore, a more adequate protection to American industry than any antidumping statute

the country ever had.”). As an example, the Commission has held that trade secret

misappropriation in the context of the importation of articles can constitute an unfair act

under Section 337(a)(1)(A). See, e.g., Rubber Resins and Processes for Manufacturing

Same, lnv. No. 337-TA-849, Comm’n Op. (Jan. 15, 2014). Based on the use of the broad
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phrase “unfair methods of competition and unfair acts” in connection with “articles” in

defining a violation of Section 337(a)(1)(A), the Commission finds that this subparagraph

of the statute further suggests a broad meaning of “articles” that embraces imported items

without limitations as to form or type of the articles.

Additional guidance as to the intended meaning of “articles” may be gleaned from

the understanding of legislators considering the bill at the time of enactment. See, e.g.,

Mastro Plastics Corp. v. National Labor Relations Bd. 350 U.S. 270, 287-88 (1956)

(discussing legislative reports and debates). The House and Senate Reports of the 1922

and 1930 Acts and Congressional debate refer to articles as synonymous with goods,

commodities, and merchandise. See S. Rep. 67-595 at 3 (1922); H. R. Rep. 71-7 at 3

(1929); 71 Cong. Rec. S. 3872, 4640 (1929). The meanings of these terms, according to

BLACi<‘SLAWDICTIONARY(2“d ed. 1910) in use at that time, indicate that the term

“articles” broadly covers items that are bought and sold in commerce. Id (“1. an item

acquired through contract or purchase”). These definitions do not provide any particular

limitations as to specific categories of articles, or specific fonns or types of articles that

would fall outside the ambit of Section 337’s proscriptions. Indeed, these definitions of

goods, merchandise, and commodities would encompass within their meaning various

types and forms of products that are bought and sold in commerce.” These commercial

terms have retained their expansive meanings even as the fundamental nature of

intemational commerce has evolved over the many decades since Section 337 was

22Even if, as respondents contend, legislators in 1930 had contemplated goods, merchandise, and
commodities to be the types of products traded at that time, the Supreme Court “frequently has observed
that “a statute is not to be confined to the ‘particular application[s] . . . contemplated by the legislators.”
Diamond v. Chakrabarly, 447 U.S. 303, 315-16 (1980) (quoting United States v. Barr, 324 U.S. 83, 90
(1945). Acc0rdBr0wder v. United States, 312 U.S. 335, 339 (1941); Puerto Rico v. Shell C0 302 U S
253, 25711937!)
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originally enacted. We note recent developments that show the acceptance of digital

goods traded in commerce as falling within international trade. Senators Baucus and

Hatch and Congressman Camp have introduced Trade Promotion Authority bills that

instruct the Administration to seek increased protections for digital trade in future trade

agreements. S.1900, 113th Congress, introduced January 9, 2014; H.R.3830, 113th

Congress, introduced January 9, 2014. Moreover, Congress has requested that the

Commission study the impact of digital trade under Section 332, another part of Title

19.23See Digital Trade In the us. and Global Economies, Part 1,Inv. No. 332-531,

USITC Pub. 4415 (July 2013) (recognizing trade in digital products as U.S. and global

commercial activity).24 Commenters have cited a number of industry and academic

papers that have treated digital goods as articles of commerce.25 Accordingly, the

commercial terms that were used in the legislative history synonymously with “articles”

suggest that Congress intended the statute expansively to embrace “articles” that may be

traded in commerce, regardless of form or type.

23Following receipt of a request dated December 13, 2012 from the Senate Committee on Finance under
section 332(g) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. §1332(g)), the UlSAIntemational Trade Commission
instituted investigation Nos. 332-531 and 332-540, Digital Trade in the U.S. and Global Economies, Parts l
and II.
24In its Digital Trade Report, the Commission requested public comments on how to describe digital trade
in the context of the broader economy. The Commission adopted the following definition of digital trade:
“Defined in this report as the delivery of products and services over either fixed line or wireless digital
networks. This definition includes U.S. domestic commercial activity as well as international trade. It
excludes commerce in most physical goods, such as goods ordered online and physical goods that have a
digital counterpart such as books and sofiware, music, and movies sold on CDs or DVDs.” Digital Trade
In the U.S. and Global Economies, Part I, lnv. No. 332-531, USITC Pub. 4415, at xii (July 20 I3).
25See, e.g., MPAA Reply Sub. at 10 (citing recent publications including: Joshua Meltzer, “Supporting the
Internet as a Platform for International Trade,” Brookings Institution, Global Economy & Development
Working Paper 69 (Feb 2014); Powering the Digital Economy: A Trade Agenda to Drive Growth,”
Business Software Alliance (2014); Edward Gesser, The Intemet and the Next Generation’s Global
Economy,” Progressive Economy (Jan. 30, 2014); Drs. William Kerr and Chad Moutray, “Economic
Impact of Global Software Theft on U.S. Manufacturing Competitiveness and Innovation,” National
Association of Manufacturers and National Alliance for Jobs and Innovation (2014).
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Importantly, the Commission must construe the tenn “articles” in such a manner

as to faithfully implement the express purpose for which Congress enacted the statute.

The central purpose of Section 337, since the enactment of the original statute in 1922,

has been to prevent every type of unfair act or practice in import trade that harms U.S.

industries. See, e.g., S. Rep. 67-595, at 3 (1922) (“The provision relating to unfair

methods of competition is broad enough to prevent every type and form of unfair practice

and is, therefore, a more adequate protection to American industry than any antidumping

statute the country ever had.”); see also H. R. Rep. 100-40 at 155 (1987).

The Commission’s reviewing courts have instructed that the tenns of the statute

must be construed to effectuate this central purpose of Section 337. The Court of

Customs and Patent Appeals explained that Congress intended for a broad interpretation

of the statutory terms of Section 337:

The statute here under consideration provides broadly for action by
the Tariff Commission in cases involving ‘unfair methods of competition
and unfair acts in the importation of articles‘, but does not define those
terms nor set up a definite standard. As was noted in our decision in In re
Northern Pigment C0., 71 F.2d 447, 22 C.C.P.A., Customs, 166, T.D.
47124, the quoted language is broad and inclusive and should not be held
to be limited to acts coming Withinthe technical definition of unfair
methods of competition as applied in some decisions. The importation of
articles may involve questions which differ materially from any arising in
purely domestic competition, and it is evident from the language used that
Congress intended to allow wide discretion in determining what practices
are to be regarded as unfair.

In re von Clemm, 229 F.2d 441 (CCPA 1955). Similar guidance was provided by the

Federal Circuit in TianRui in which the Court stated that “Congress intended a similarly

broad and flexible meaning when it used the same language [as the Federal Trade

Commission Act] to prohibit ‘unfair methods of competition’ in importation.” TianRui

45



PUBLIC VERSION

Group C0. Ltd. v. ITC, 661 F.3d 1322, 1331 (Fed. Cir. 2011). Pertinent to the issue of

“articles,” the Tian Rut Court noted that “Congress contemplated that, in exercising its

new authority over unfair competition, the Commission would consider conduct abroad

in determining whether imports that were theproducts of or otherwise related to, that

conduct were unfairly competing in the domestic market.” Id. at 1332. In accordance

with our reviewing Court’s instructions and to ensure that we properly implement

Congressional intent, the Commission reviews the pertinent legislative history of Section

337 below.

The legislative history emphasizes the central purpose of preventing every type of

unfair act or practice in connection with imported articles (assuming, starting with the

Trade Act of 1974, consistency with the public interest), and endeavors to strengthen the

reach of Section 337 to provide effective relief to U.S. industries that are harmed by

imported articles. As the Court of Customs and Patent Appeals noted in Frischer & C0.

v. Bakelite C0rp., “the purpose of the law is to give to industries in the United States, not

only the benefit of favorable laws and conditions to be found in this country, but also to

protect such industries from being Lmfairlydeprived of the advantage of the same and

permit them to grow and develop.” 39 F.2d 247, 259 (C.C.P.A. 1930). See also In re

Orion C0., 71 F.2d 458 (CCPA 1934) (“these various provisions were intended to shelter,

protect, and conserve the industries of the United States, as well as to provide

revenues”).

The legislative history of the 1930Act demonstrates Congress’s continuing

concern with protection of U.S. industries from unfairly traded imported articles. See,

e.g., H.R. Rep. 71-7 at 166 (1929); S. Rep. 71-37, at 68 (1929). This legislative history
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also evinces Congress’s recognition that innovation would yield many new types and

fonns of articles that would be traded in commerce in the future. For example, a

Congressional Report accompanying the Tariff Act of 1930 recognizes that many new

goods and manufacturing processes had been invented and brought to the U.S. market

since the 1922 Act, and anticipates that many new goods and processes would come in

the future. H. R. Rep. 71-7 at 3-4. It was also noted that U.S. industries needed

protection from competition, particularly unfair competition, so that they could come

forward with these new goods and processes. See id. at 4, 166. This forward-looking

recognition in the legislative history that innovation would bring new goods to the U.S.

market, and that U.S. industries needed protection against unfairly traded goods to foster

such innovation, indicates that the term “articles” should be construed flexibly to fit new

technologies. See Diamond v. Chakrabarty, 447 U.S. 303, 316 (1980) (“Congress

employed broad general language in drafting § 101 precisely because such inventions are

often unforeseeable”); WGNContinental Broadcasting C0. v. United Video,Inc., 693

F.2d 622, 627 (7thCir. 1982) (Congress intended definitions to be interpreted flexibly so

that as new technologies appeared, Congress wouldn’t have to update the statute

periodically).

Likewise, the Trade Act of 1974 strengthened the statute to protect against

unfairly traded imports by providing additional remedies for a violation, namely cease

and desist orders, and by providing authority to the Commission itself to administer the

statute and issue remedies. In so doing, the legislative history echoes the concerns of

previous Congresses that Section 337 should provide strong protections against unfair
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acts in connection with imported articles. See, e.g., H.R. Rep. 93-571 at 77-79 (1973); S.

Rep. 93-1298 at 193-200 (1974).

By the mid-1980s, Congress recognized the growing problems that infringing

imports posed for U.S. intellectual property rights owners. The Omnibus Trade and

Competitiveness Act of 1988 further strengthened Section 337 with respect to the

protection of intellectual property rights and expressed the will of Congress to encompass

within its scope infringing imports:

Any sale in the United States of a product covered by an intellectual
property right is a sale that rightfully belongs to the holder or licensees of
that property. The importation of any infringing merchandise derogates
from the statutory right, diminishes the value of the intellectual property,
and thus indirectly harms the public interest.

S. Rep. 100-71 at 128-29 (1987) (emphasis added); H.R. Rep. 100-40 at 156 (1987)

(same).

In further amending Section 337 in the Uruguay Round Agreements Act of 1994,

Congress continued to emphasize the focus of Section 337 as authorizing the

Commission “to exclude goods from the United States and enjoin activities with respect

to imports that are found to infringe U.S. intellectual property right or are otherwise

found to violate that statute.” H.R. Rep. 100-826 at 140. The 1994 Act made certain

procedural changes to remove the time limits on Commission proceedings and to stay

simultaneously filed parallel district court litigation. H.R. Rep. 100-826 at 140 (1994); S.

Rep. 103-412 at 118 (1994). The 1994 amendments made no change in the substance of

the unfair acts or scope of the articles that are subject to a finding of a statutory violation.

Respondents urge the Commission to find that the term “articles” cannot be

construed to include within its meaning the subject digital data sets that are electronically
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transmitted into the United States, relying principally upon the Federal Circuit’s decision

in Bayer AG v. Housey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 340 F.3d 1367, 1372 (Fed. Cir. 2003).

Resp. Sub, at 2-4. Bayer, however, is of limited relevance to the proper construction of

the statutory term “articles,” and does not mandate a different conclusion. At issue in

Bayer was a patented method for screening substances to ascertain whether the substance

inhibits or activates a particular protein. Id. at 1369. The practice of the patent there

resulted in “information in the abstract,” specifically, “the knowledge that a substance

possesses a particular quality.” Id. at 1371-72, 1376. Housey alleged that Bayer was

liable as an infringer under 35 U.S.C. § 271(g), not 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (a)(1)(B), when it

imported this “knowledge” or “information” obtained from performing the Housey

patented methods. In finding that § 27l(g) did not cover this type of abstract research

data or infonnation, the Federal Circuit held that the statutory tenn “made” in § 27l(g)

means “manufactured.” According to the Court, the production of the infonnation at

issue was not within the scope of “manufacture.”

In its analysis, the Federal Circuit examined the 1988 legislative history of 35

U.S.C. § 27l(g) and Section 337(a)(l)(B)(ii). In so doing, the Court did not purport to

ascertain the parameters of the Commission’s Section 337 jurisdiction, but rather was

construing 35 U.S.C. § 27l(g). Indeed, the Court noted in a footnote that Section 337

may have a broader scope than 35 U.S.C. § 271(g), although it observed, without

analysis, that Section 337 does not indicate that § 271(g) covers the type of “information”

about the inhibitive or activating characteristics of a substance obtained through the

practice of the process patent that was at issue in that case. Ia’.at 1374 n.9 (“We

recognize that section 1337 covers both articles that were ‘made’ and articles that were
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‘produced, processed, or mined.’ While this language in section 1337 perhaps suggests a

broader scope for section 1337 than for section 271(g), nothing in section 1337 suggests

coverage of information, in addition to articles, under section 271(g).”). As is clear from

the Court’s recitation of the specific “information” pertaining to the patent at issue in that

case, that “information” obtained through the practice of the patent at issue in Bayer was

whether a substance was an inhibitor or an activator of a protein. Thus, Bayer provides

little, if any, guidance concerning the articles at issue here. ln contrast to Bayer, the

articles at issue here comprise infringing digital data sets that are models of an individual

patient’s teeth, as well as the aligners made therefrom, that result in incremental

movements of those teeth through successive orthodontic treatments.

Comments of third party submitters present practical considerations that echo the

concern of legislators in enacting Section 337 in order to protect U.S. industries against

unfairly traded imports. The Motion Picture Association of America (“MPAA”) and the

Association of American Publishers (“AAP”) describe the transition by IP-based

industries to digital distribution (including industries producing motion pictures,

software, books, music and games). MPAA Sub. at 2; AAP Sub. at 2. Both groups

describe the problems of infringement by illegal download and streaming, and the

importance of Section 337 to IP-based industries.26 They point out that protecting the

copyrights of U.S. companies from the importation of these infringing articles that are

electronically transmitted by foreign sources is consistent with the intent of Congress and

the longstanding purpose of Section 337. MPAA Sub. at 10-13; AAP Sub. at 3. i

26MPAA estimates the cost of such infringement to the U.S. economy at $58 billion annually, including
more than 373,000 jobs, $16 billion in lost employee eamings, and $3 billion in federal, state, and local tax
revenue. MPAA Sub. at 2-3. MPAA cites numerous Congressional and industry studies that have
estimated losses to the U.S. economy due to such lP infringement. Id. at 2-4.
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MPAA also points out that construing “articles” in Section 337 to cover electronic

transmissions is consistent with established practices of U.S. Customs and Border

Protection (“CBP”) and the Department of Labor (“DOL”). MPAA notes that CBP,

which is charged with interpreting and administering the Hannonized Tariff Schedule of

the United States (“HTSUS”), has ruled that the transmission of software modules and

products into the United States via the internet constitutes an importation of foreign

merchandise into the United States. MPAA Sub. at 8 (citing HQ 114459, 1998 US

CUSTOM HQ LEXIS 640 (Sept. 17, 1988)). Similarly, MPAA notes that DOL, which

administers trade adjustment assistance to U.S. workers displaced by imported products

under the Trade Adjustment Assistance Act,27has ruled as a matter of policy that

“[s]ofiWare and similar intangible goods that would have been considered articles . .. if

embodied in a physical medium will now be considered to be articles regardless of their

method oftransfer. Id. (citing 71 Fed. Reg. 18355, 18357 (Apr. 11, 2006))?“ We more

broadly observe that MPAA‘s submission shows that U.S. federal agencies charged with

responsibilities over international trade agree that digital merchandise are articles of

international commerce. ‘

27The Trade Adjustment Assistance Act (“TAA”) was part of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962, Pub. L.
87-794, 76 Stat. 883.
28MPAA also cites a 2006 ClT decision finding that electronic transmissions of sofiware were “articles
produced” within the meaning of the TAA. MPAA Sub. at 8-9 (citing Former Emps. of Computer Scis.
Corp. v. Secretary of Labor, 414 F. Supp.2d 1334 (Ct. Int’l Trade 2006); Former Emps. OfMerrill Corp. v.
United States, 483 F. Supp. 2d 1256, 1257-68 (Ct. lnt’l Trade 2007)). We note, for completeness, a Federal
Circuit decision in Woodrumv. United States, 737 F.2d 1575 (Fed. Cir. 1984), “affirm[ing] on the basis of
[the CIT] opinion,” 564 F.Supp. 826, 829 (CIT 1983). In the CIT opinion, the CIT construed the TAA
language “articles produced” such that “production under section 222(3) requires the manufacture or
creation of something tangible” and therefore affirmed the Labor Secretary’s denial of TAA benefits to
mechanics employed by an independent automobile dealership who service and prepare vehicles for retail
sale because they “have not transformed articles into new and different articles." 564 F.Supp. 2d at 829.
Similarly, in Nagy v. Donovan, 57] F. Supp. 1261, 1264 (Ct. Int’l Trade1983), the CIT held that employees
who provide automotive services do not engage in production of a new and different article.
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Third party Google notes that Commission exclusion orders (and seizure and

forfeiture orders) enforced by U.S. Customs and Border Protection relate only to physical

goods passing through U.S. ports of entry, and thus would not remediate violations

involving electronically transmitted articles. See Google Sub. at 6-7. Exclusion orders,

however, are not the exclusive remedy for violations of Section 337.29 The statute

provides for highly effective remedies in the fonn of cease and desist orders under

Section 337(f), to prevent further electronic shipments of infringing goods. l9 U.S.C. §

l337(f)(l). Under Section 337(f), cease and desist orders may be issued “[i]n addition to,

or in lieu of’ an exclusion order. The Commission vigorously enforces violations of

cease and desist orders, and under the statute, may impose civil penalties for violations of

up to $100,000 per day. 19U.S.C. § l337(f)(2). Moreover, the Commission’s cease and

desist orders typically require the posting of a bond with the Office of the Secretary to

cover continued prohibited conduct during the Presidential review period “in an amount

detennined by the Commission to be sufficient to protect the complainant from any

injury.” 19 U.S.C. § l337(j)(3). Thus, the fact that Customs enforces exclusion orders

issued by the Commission by excluding from entry physical goods passing through U.S.

ports does not limit our understanding of the scope of “articles.” It should be noted that

29lt is a feature, not a flaw, for a set of remedy provisions to include some subsections that apply only in
some settings; and agencies are given deference on their choices about which statutory remedy to apply so
they can appropriately address the particular facts of each case . See Bulz v. Glover Livestock Commission
Company, Ina, 411 US 182, 188 (1973) (agencies must carefully weigh their selection of authorized
remedy based on the evidence and the statutory scheme); Mourning v. Family Publications Service, Inc.,
411 US 356, 371-72 (“We have consistently held that where reasonable minds may differ as to which of
several remedial measures should be chosen, courts should defer to the informed experience and judgment
of the agency to whom Congress delegated appropriate authority.”)This helps to ensure that at least some
remedy is available for a violation. See S. Rep. 93-1298 at 198 (1974) (explaining the provision for cease
and desist orders in the new amendment to Section 337) (“It is clear to your committee that the existing
statute, which provides no remedy other than exclusion from entry, is so extreme or inappropriate in some
cases that it is likely to result in the Commission not finding a violation of this section, thus reducing the
effectiveness of section 337 for the purposes intended”).
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in this investigation, complainant Align requests only cease and desist orders, as

discussed more fully in Part IV below.

Third parties Nokia, the AAP, and the MPAA caution that “articles” should not be

construed in such a way that infringers could avoid liability under Section 337, thereby

denying an avenue of relief to IP-based industries in the United States. AAP Sub. at 2;

MPAA Sub. at 6; Nokia Reply Sub. at 9. For example, an infringer could shift from

importing its infringing software on a disk to importing the very same software by

electronic transmission. They note that “it would be anomalous for the Commission to be

able to stop the transfer of a CD-ROM or diskette containing the respondents’ software

but not be able to stop the transfer of the very same software when transmitted in

machine readable form by electronic means.” MPAA Sub. at 6; AAP Sub. at 2. The

Commission concurs. "It has been called a golden rule of statutory interpretation that,

when one of several possible interpretations produces an unreasonable result, that is a

reason for rejecting that interpretation in favor of another which would produce a

reasonable result." 2A Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction § 45.12 (7thed.

2007). The Commission concludes, in the context of this case, that an interpretation of

"articles" that allows the Commission to reach the imported physical aligners at issue in

Investigation No. 337-TA-562, but does not include the infringing digital data sets from

which the aligners are produced, simply because they are in digital form, is unreasonable

and inconsistent with the purpose of the statute.

Finally, a few commentators argue that principles of patent law preclude a finding

that electronic data transmissions constitute “articles” under Section 337. Google Sub. at

10-13; Katz Sub. at 3, 8 (citing In re Nuitjen, 500 F.3d 1346, 1353 (Fed. Cir. 2007)).
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They argue that because an electronic transmission is not patent eligible subject matter

under 35 U.S.C. § 101, section 337 should not be construed to include electronic

transmissions. The Commission disagrees with this view. First, the question we are

deciding —whether the “importation . . . of articles” includes digital data sets that are

electronically transmitted into the United States —goes to the importation requirement,

not patent eligibility per se.30 Second, the argument overlooks the fact that in defining a

Section 337 violation in connection with statutory intellectual property rights the term

“articles” appears in the phrase “articles that infringe” a patent, a registered trademark,

and a registered copyright. Thus, the commenters fail to take into account that the phrase

“articles that infringe” is not simply limited to patents, but also applies to trademarks and

copyrights, as well as other unfair acts and methods of competition in connection With

importation and sale of articles.3I Third, section 337 is a trade statute that is part of Title

19. As we observe above, there is a consensus among govemment agencies charged with

responsibilities over international trade that digital merchandise are articles of

3°In this investigation, respondents did not raise any § l0l arguments concerning the asserted patents.
Furthermore, any such arguments are more properly addressed regarding validity, not importation, and the
Commission may not invalidate a patent claim sua sponte, i.e., where invalidity has not been asserted by
the respondent as a defense to infringement of a properly asserted claim. See generally, Lannom Mfg. C0.
v. United States Int’! Trade Comm'n, 799 F.2d 1572, (Fed.Cir.l986). We also note that the commenters
may not be correct in their suggestion that the patent claims at issue would be invalid under § 101. In
cases such as this one, where the digital data sets cause a physical arrangement (here, where to place the
mechanical braces used to align human teeth), the Federal Circuit has determined that § I01 would be
satisfied, see In re Alappar, 33 F.3d 1540 (Fed. Cir. 1994 ) (en banc) (digital data produced a “useful,
concrete, and tangible result” in the form of a smooth curve displayed on the screen). Similarly, in cases
such as this one where the digital data sets correspond to a “useful, concrete, and tangible” thing (here, the
relative locations of the human teeth), the Federal Circuit has determined that § 101 is satisfied, see also
Arrhythmia Research Technology Inc. v. Corazonix C0rp., 958 F.2d I053 (Fed.Cir.l992) (digital data set
corresponded to electrical signals in a human heart).
3' We note, in the sections that follow, that we find that the subject imports are processed by means of
patented processes and are materials for use in practicing patented processes. Here, we are solely
construing the statutory term “importation of articles” in the violation provisions of Section 337.
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international commerce. Accordingly, we reject these arguments presented by Google

and Katz.

In sum, our task is to determine whether the phrase “importation of articles”

encompasses this modern form of international commerce, or should be understood as

limited to the kinds of intcmational transactions in existence when the statute was first

enacted. Having carefully reviewed the plain language of the statute, its legislative

history and purpose, pertinent case law, and the arguments of the parties and public

commenters, Weconclude that the statutory phrase “importation of articles” should be

construed to include electronic transmission of digital data because the digital data sets at

issue in this investigation are true articles of international commerce that are imported

into the United States and their inclusion within the purview of section 337 would

effectuate the central purpose of the statute.

B. Claim Construction

1. One of Ordinary Skill in the Art

The ALJ found that one of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the invention of

the asserted claims of each of the patents at issue in this investigation was an individual

with expertise in digital modeling and analysis and a working knowledge of orthodontic

principles. ID at 28.

Align argues that it showed that one of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the

inventions for each of the asserted patents would include a practicing orthodontist. Align

Pet. at 33.
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